5-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 17 1988
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Deputy Clerk

MIGUEL MENDEZ,)
)
 Petitioner,)
)
 vs.)
)
 STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Respondent .)
)
 _____)

CASE NO. 73,447

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

~~RICHARD L. JORANDBY~~
Public Defender

~~MARG~~
MARGARET GOOD
Florida Bar No. 192356
Assistant Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit
9th Floor Governmental Center
301 North Olive Avenue
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

Counsel for Petitioner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 24, 1985, around 4:30 p.m. Detectives Gaffney and Barnes of the Broward Sheriff's Office were routinely boarding northbound buses at the Trailways bus station (R-68-69). Petitioner, the only person on the bus, was seated at the back in the last seat (R-69,80). Gaffney approached petitioner although he had no suspicion petitioner was engaged in any illegal activity (R-87). Gaffney stood in the aisle to the side of petitioner and Barnes stood behind Gaffney (R-80).

Gaffney and Barnes wore police jackets, spoke only English to petitioner and identified themselves as police officers (R-80). Gaffney asked if petitioner had a moment to speak and petitioner said, "Yes." (R-70,78). Gaffney then asked where petitioner was going and petitioner handed Gaffney his ticket, which read either Ft. Meyers or Tampa (R-71). Gaffney returned the ticket and then asked petitioner if he had any baggage. Petitioner pointed to the overhead rack (R-71). Gaffney then said, "Excuse me, sir, I would like to have consent to search and you have a right to refuse the consent to search." Gaffney testified that petitioner replied, "Go ahead and look." (R-73).

Gaffney took down the bag, a clear plastic sack with blue checks, and looked in it. He found nine or ten packets of cocaine and a .38 revolver among petitioner's personal belongings (R-74). Petitioner made no response when told of his arrest. Before petitioner's arrest Gaffney heard petitioner speak no more

than six words in English with a Spanish accent (R-79,80). Afterwards, petitioner indicated he did not understand English (R-76).

Petitioner was transported to the Sheriff's Office at the airport where Officer LaSanta read petitioner his rights in Spanish (R-76,91). At no time did Officer LaSanta have any conversation with petitioner or speak to petitioner in English (R-91). LaSanta translated into Spanish questions posed by Gaffney to petitioner (R-94) regarding petitioner's name, place of birth, residence and other simple questions (R-96-97). LaSanta testified at the suppression hearing that he drew a conclusion that petitioner spoke English (R-94); though LaSanta "had a feeling" petitioner could understand and speak English, he also said petitioner's knowledge of English was minimal, that petitioner was unable to understand everything Gaffney asked (R-97-98).

At the suppression hearing, petitioner called Br. Michael Powers as an expert (R-13-20) in linguistics, with the ability to determine a person's knowledge of a language based on testing (R-29). Dr. Powers tested petitioner on December 3, 1985, when petitioner came to Dr. Powers' office with his wife. He tested petitioner's active and passive recognition of Spanish and his passive recognition of English. He did *not ask* petitioner to speak English (R-34). His test was designed to determine petitioner's recognition of specific words, "right to refuse consent" and also "request consent to search." (R-32).

Petitioner understood the concept of consent in his own language (R-36). Petitioner also understood the word "consent" in English but did not understand the words "search" or "right." (R-41-42). In English petitioner confused the word "right" with its homonym "write." (R-43).

Dr. Powers determined petitioner was of a low educational level and not a learned speaker in his native language of Spanish. In addition to the phrases for which Dr. Powers tested, petitioner also did not understand the words "search," "trial," "frisk," "rights," "remain," "show," "prerogatives," "business" or "learn." (R-45). Dr. Powers concluded that petitioner was not linguistically competent to understand the statement Detective Gaffney gave him on that day. Petitioner's understanding of Gaffney's words would have been, "Would you give me consent to _____ your bag. You have the _____ to refuse consent to _____ your bag." (R-47).

Petitioner testified through an interpreter that the detective stood in front of him in the aisle on the bus that day (R-104). He did not think he could leave. He said he knew the English word for ticket and handed the ticket to the officers when they asked (R-105). Petitioner also said he did not know that the officers had asked permission to search or that he could refuse. He said when he pointed to the bag the officers took it.

Petitioner had never studied English. He had gone to school through the fourth grade in Puerto Rico, where he was born. He understood some English words but not alot. He said he spoke Spanish at home and at work and did not speak or understand much English even though he had lived here for 25 years.

He bought his bus ticket in Miami by himself and was going to Ft. Myers (R-114). He did not get off in Ft. Lauderdale but stayed on the bus. At all his prior hearings he had an interpreter or his attorney, Maria Rivas Hamar, had explained to him in Spanish what happened after the hearing. He had never spoken to his co-counsel Richard Hamar (R-109-110).

At the close of the suppression hearing the state was allowed to introduce into evidence petitioner's statements to Judge Franza at a bond hearing on August 5, 1985 (R-101). At that hearing, Judge Franza had addressed petitioner and asked him how many years had he been here. Petitioner responded, "Twenty-five. I don't know how to speak." (Supp. Record of August 5, 1985, SR - 3). Petitioner's specific objection was sustained to giving any evidentiary support to statement by co-counsel Richard Hamar at that August 5, 1985, hearing that petitioner could get by in English (R-99). Co-counsel, Maria Riva Hamar, explained that Statement was made only because her partner did not want to wait for an interpreter to complete the bond hearing (R-99).

On appeal, two other hearings were also made part of the appellate record although not before Judge Carney at the time of the motion to suppress. At an August 15, 1985, bond hearing

before Judge Fleet petitioner had testified through an interpreter (R-4). At a bond hearing of July 29, 1985, with Judge Franza petitioner said through an interpreter that he speaks some English but that legal terms escape him (Supp. Rec. - 18).

In its order denying petitioner's motion to suppress the physical evidence the court determined that whether petitioner understood English was not controlling in any event:

On July 24, 1985, the Defendant was a passenger on a Trailways bus traveling to the Tampa-Fort Meyer area. The Defendant had purchased a ticket and boarded the bus in Miami and was approached by members of the Broward Sheriff's Office in Fort Lauderdale at a scheduled stopover. The Defendant is Puerto Rican but has lived in the United States for a considerable period of time. Deputy Gaffney of the Broward County Sheriff's Department approached the Defendant and asked to look at the Defendant's ticket. The Defendant produced the ticket which Gaffney inspected. Deputy Gaffney then asked if the Defendant was carrying luggage and the Defendant pointed to an overhead rack which contained luggage. According to Deputy Gaffney, the Defendant was asked if he would consent to a search of the bag. The Defendant replied, "Go ahead and look." The luggage was a non-locking, open bag in which Deputy Gaffney found a loaded handgun and various packets of suspected cocaine which the Defendant now seeks to suppress.

Dr. Powers, a linguist from the University of Miami, testified for the Defendant that, in his opinion, the Defendant had a limited grasp of the English language. This was based upon a test Dr. Powers gave the Defendant for this purpose.

This Court is persuaded otherwise. At a bond hearing shortly after the Defendant's arrest, the Defendant was responsive to questions by the Court in English. Further, Deputy DeSanto (sic) of the Broward Sheriff's Department, who spoke with the Defendant in Spanish shortly after his arrest, stated that the Defendant appeared to understand the English that was spoken around him while at the police station. This Court further observes that the

Defendant was responsive to each of the questions asked by the officers on the bus and when questioned by the officers about whether they could examine his luggage, answered - "Go ahead and look."

This Court further finds that the contact by the Sheriff's Department was a citizen contact and that a reasonably prudent person under the same circumstances would not consider himself to be detained or in custody. In viewing the totality of the circumstances, this Court does not find controlling the issue of whether or not the Defendant understood unequivocally that he could refuse consent. State v. Rardin, 392 So.2d 350 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

Based upon totality of the circumstances, this Court finds that the State has established, by clear and convincing evidence, that consent was given voluntarily, and therefore, it is

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Defendant's Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence be, and the same is hereby denied.

(R-162-163).

Petitioner then pled to no contest to trafficking in more than 28 but less than 200 grams of cocaine and carrying a concealed firearm, specifically reserving the right to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress. He was sentenced to three-and-a-half years imprisonment (R-162). On appeal, the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District summarily affirmed in a decision filed November 16, 1988, with a citation to the authority of State v. Avery, 531 So.2d 182 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Mendez v. State, 534 So.2d 774 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Petitioner timely sought review in this Court because the en banc decision in Avery is pending discretionary review in this Court in Case No. 73,289 on a certified question. (Appendix -2-19). In an order dated March 20, 1989, this Court accepted jurisdiction of petitioner's case and established a briefing schedule. This brief follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred in applying a per se rule of law that officers' random questioning of seated passengers on a bus is not a detention or seizure.

Given the totality of the circumstances regarding the officers' conduct and the setting, THIS petitioner was detained. He was the only person on the bus and seated in the last seat of the bus. Detective Gaffney's standing in the aisle next to petitioner with Detective Barnes behind him forced petitioner to remain and participate; by blocking the aisle they restrained petitioner's freedom of movement. This was not a voluntary encounter but a forced one.

Due to petitioner's minimal understanding of English, the confining circumstances, petitioner's solitary position in the back of the bus, and the officers' introduction as authorities requesting to search, the state did not carry its burden to show that the search occurred with petitioner's voluntary consent, rather than acquiescence to apparent authority.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO REVIEW THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE OFFICER'S CORNERING PETITIONER, A TICKETED PASSENGER, IN THE NARROW CONFINES OF THE BACK OF A BUS THUS TAINTED ANY ALLEGED CONSENT THE OFFICER'S EXTRACTED ACROSS A PLAIN LANGUAGE BARRIER.

Without any founded suspicion of criminal activity, the police officers boarded a northbound bus at the Ft. Lauderdale bus station, approached petitioner sitting in the last seat of the bus and stood over him in the aisle so as to block his exit. Under these circumstances, their request to petitioner for consent to search did not produce a voluntary consent but only acquiescence to apparent authority since petitioner, with minimal ability to understand English, was not effectively advised of his right to refuse consent.

The Fourth Amendment is designed "to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals." United States v. Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543, 96 S.Ct. 3074,3081, 49 L.Ed.2d 1116 (1976). A consensual encounter between police and a citizen does not implicate the Fourth Amendment. United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64 L.Ed.2d 497 (1980). Voluntary interaction between police and citizens is not inhibited because "there is nothing in the Constitution which prohibits a policeman from addressing questions to anyone on the streets." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1,34, 88 S.Ct. 1868,1886 (1968). Such a

consensual street encounter between police and citizen is premised on a police officer's enjoying "the liberty (again, possessed by every citizen) to address questions to other persons," id. at 31, 32-33, 88 S.Ct. at 1885-1886. "Ordinarily the person addressed has an equal right to ignore his interrogator and walk away." Id. Accordingly, a person is "seized" only when, by means of physical force or show of authority the officer "has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen" id. at 19, n.16.

The standard analysis to be employed is whether "in view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave." United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 554. See also Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 502, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983). In contravention of this standard, the Fourth District in petitioner's case affirmed with citation to State v. Avery, which established a per se rule that officers randomly seeking consent from seated passengers aboard buses is not an unconstitutional practice.

What occurred here between petitioner and the Broward Sheriff's detectives was not a police-citizen voluntary encounter. The Supreme Court of the United States has repeatedly emphasized that in determining whether a "reasonable person would have believed that he was free to leave" I.N.S. v. Delgado, 466 U.S. 210, 215 (1984), Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. at 502, the courts must assess not only the coercive affect of police conduct taken

as a whole, but also the setting within which the conduct occurs. Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. _____, 100 L.Ed.2d 565,572, 108 S.Ct. _____ (1988).

The circumstances of the setting here are of prime importance. Unlike the situations in Royer or Mendenhall, or Delgado petitioner was not approached in a street, a public area or a work place where people are free to come and go and move about. There was nothing about the police conduct here which respected or allowed for petitioner to be anything other than forced to have contact with the officers due to the narrow confines of the bus, his position in the last seat and the officers blocking his passage way in front of him. This was not a voluntary encounter but one forced upon petitioner. That a commuter seated on a form of public transportation is a captive audience was emphasized by Justice Douglas in his concurring opinion in Lehman v. City of Shaker Heights, 418 U.S. 298, 94 S.Ct. 2714, 41 L.Ed.2d 770 (1974), where he recognized that even precious First Amendment rights would have to give way to the special interest of a bus passenger to be let alone:

The First Amendment, however, draws no distinction between press privately owned, and press owned otherwise. And if we are to turn a bus or streetcar into either a newspaper or a park, we take great liberties with people who because of necessity become commuters and at the same time captive viewers or listeners.

In asking us to force the system to accept his message as a vindication of his constitutional rights of the commuters. While petitioner clearly has a right to express his views to those who wish to listen, he has no right to force his message upon an audience incapable of declining to receive it. In my view the right

of the commuters to be free from forced intrusions on their privacy precludes the city from transporting its vehicles of public transportation into forums for the dissemination of ideas upon this captive audience.

There Justice Douglas further noted that bus passengers are captive and not free to ignore the activities on a bus by merely exiting like people in other public places.

In the present case, petitioner would not have felt free to leave. The two officers were together in the aisle next to him and in front of him on the bus obviously blocking the exit as he was seated in the last seat of the bus. These circumstances do not clearly indicate that in this setting petitioner would have felt free to walk away. For the petitioner to walk away under these circumstances would have required him to walk away from his journey and forfeit his ticket.

The setting here is vastly different than what was considered by the Supreme Court in I.N.S. v. Delgado where the factory survey was conducted while employees continued to move about. In Michigan v. Chesternut the Supreme Court found of obvious significance that the police conduct there of driving parallel to a running pedestrian, although somewhat intimidating, did not standing alone constitute a seizure where the officers did not operate the car to block the respondent's course or otherwise control the direction or speed of his movement. Here, the officers did intrude upon petitioner's freedom of movement by rendering him captive in his seat by the positioning of their bodies to block the aisle and exit which was "some way" of restraining petitioner's liberty. Officers positioning themselves so as to

block a citizen's pathway is clearly a factor to be considered in determining whether a Terry stop has occurred. Michigan v. Chesternut, *supra*, Horvitz v. State, 433 So.2d 545 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), State v. Kerwick, 512 So.2d 347 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

Other than the coercive setting, it is significant that the police conduct here did not include an effective advisement to petitioner that he could decline to consent to the search. The trial court, in its order denying the motion to suppress, did not decide the question of whether petitioner understood he had a right not to consent (R-163). Rather, the court relied on State v. Rardin, 392 So.2d 350 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), that failure to advise a citizen of his right to refuse a search does not automatically render consent involuntary. Yet, failure to advise the citizen of his right to refuse consent is one of the factors to be considered in assessing voluntariness. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973). Significantly, advising Mendenhall that she had a right to refuse consent to the search was an important consideration that showed the voluntariness of her consent. United States v. Mendenhall, *supra*. Given the confines of the setting, unless officers effectively communicated that petitioner did not have to agree with their request, petitioner's participation was not shown to be voluntary.

The officers' conduct toward petitioner in this setting clearly restrained his freedom to move about, was intimidating and entailed a show of authority. Confining petitioner by his position and their persons and requesting travel information and permission to search upon an introduction as police officers is a

show of authority completely at odds with a normal citizen encounter. Citizens do not usually ask one another if they might look through another's private belongings. But for there introduction as police officers, petitioner might otherwise have reasonable assumed he was being accosted while alone by two persons who wished to search **his** possessions to determine if he carried anything worth stealing. Although police questioning by itself is not a detention what occurred here is significantly more than police questioning:

Unless circumstances of the encounter are so intimidating as to demonstrate that a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave if he had not responded, one cannot say that the questioning resulted in a detention under the Fourth Amendment. I.N.S. v. Delgado, 466 U.S. at 216.

Here, the circumstances were extremely intimidating due to the narrow confines of the bus, the petitioner's seat at the way back, the officers' position in front of him and that he was the sole person on the bus at the time the officers approached. The manner of the officers' introduction was similar to a conductor or bus employee who would board the bus to make sure the passengers' papers are in order.

Another circumstance which bears heavily on a totality of the circumstance's analysis is petitioner's minimal understanding of English. Even the state's witness, Officer LaSanta, testified that petitioner's understanding of English was minimal, that he was unable to understand many of the simple questions Gaffney asked petitioner in English (R-97-98). The trial court's determination that petitioner's grasp of English was other than

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