IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 16 1989

MIGUEL	MENDEZ,)
	Petitioner,	ý
vs .		į
		,

Respondent.

STATE OF FLORIDA

By Deputy Clerk

CASE NO: 73,447

AMENDED RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallañassee, Florida

JAMES J. CARNEY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar #475246
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court was correct in denying the petitioner's suppression motion. As this ruling comes to this Court with a presumption of correctness, this Court should defer to the trial court's findings. The Fourth District correctly affirmed this ruling in reliance on State v. Avery which examined the facts of the case under the "totality of circumstances" approach as required by the United States Supreme Court. This Federal precedent mandates that the resolution of such Fourth Amendment issues depends on the facts and circumstances of each case, applying objective criteria.

An encounter between police and citizens is not rendered a per se seizure and does not invalidate a consent search, merely because the police are conducting questioning on a public bus parked at a public bus terminal. Such factors may be considered under the totality of circumstances in determining the nature of the encounter and consent, but are not themselves dispositive. A ticketed passenger on public transportation enjoys no greater right to be free from minimal investigative encounters than he would in a public concourse or terminal, as a matter of law. While stopped at a bus station, there is unrestricted access to a bus by all citizens. A passenger's movement is not inherently or necessarily restricted, on or off, or within the bus. The bus was not stopped or detained by police actions or conduct. Inherent factors, such as the future departure of the bus, or the physical confines or environment on

board public transit, are not the result of police conduct, and are known beforehand by all citizens. There is no constitutional difference, in the "public place" nature of a bus, as a matter of law, from that of a public concourse terminal or station. Any factually distinguishing circumstances are adequately addressed by governing United States Supreme Court standards and criterion, which allow for adequate balancing of the compelling state interest in enforcement of drug laws, and a citizen's privacy interests, on a case-by-case basis.

The encounter between petitioner and police was clearly not a seizure, and thus did not invoke Fourth Amendment protections. There was no evidence of any indicia of control or of circumstances so intimidating such that a reasonable person, innocent of any crime, would have felt not free to leave, or decline to respond to the police. The police questioned petitioner without forceful or threatening tone or manner, did not retain petitioner's ticket, did not physically block or touch petitioner, and were in plain clothes, without displaying weapons. Thus, the consent search was conducted subsequent to a valid "encounter", and not tainted by any police misconduct. Assuming arguendo there was misconduct, the advisement to petitioner of his right to refuse consent, attenuated any taint from the misconduct. The trial court's factual determination that petitioner understood the officers questioning should not be "second-quessed" by this Court. Under the totality of circumstances, petitioner gave free and voluntary consent to the search of his luggage.

ARGUMENT

POINT N APPEAL (Restated)

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED PETITIONER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHERE NO SEIZURE OF PETITIONER OCCURRED AND PETITIONER VOLUNTARILY CONSENTED TO THE SEARCH.

Initially, respondent would note that the ruling of the trial judge on a motion to suppress comes to this Court clothed with a presumption of correctness and this Court should not substitute its judgment for that of the trial judge. This Court, should defer to the trial judge's authority as a fact-finder. Wasko v. State, 505 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1987). The reviewing court interprets evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions derived therefrom in a manner most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling. McNamara v. State, 357 So.2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1978).

The trial court was correct in denying petitioner's motion to suppress the cocaine taken from his bag pursuant to a valid "encounter" and consent search. In his brief, petitioner essentially maintained that any bus passenger, approached by police on board public transit will always be coerced by the inherent and attendant circumstances. He also claims that every such "encounter" must be classified as a per se "seizure", invoking Fourth Amendment protections. It is clear that the Fourth District, relying on State v. Avery, 513 So.2d 182 (Fla.

4th DCA 1988) correctly applied United States Supreme Court precedent in affirming the trial court's ruling.

Avery relied on United States Supreme Court case law in instructing that the existence of a valid encounter and subsequent consent search is dependent upon the totality of circumstances. Id. at 183-185. In focusing upon the specific circumstances, the Avery court concluded that the police officers did not engage in any police misconduct or any inappropriate detention that transformed the encounter into a "seizure" that would invoke Fourth Amendment protections. Id. at 187, 188.

It is apparent that the <u>Avery</u> opinion relied upon in the case below remains the valid approach under governing Federal and State case law. Petitioner essentially suggests that citizens engaged in drug smuggling can never validly consent to speak with or permit searches by police, <u>as a matter of law</u>, and are immune from legitimate police investigatory techniques in all situations where a citizen is a ticketed passenger on board public transit. This viewpoint has been consistently rejected by the Court's adoption and reaffirmation in case after case of the "totality of circumstances", rather than "per se" evaluation of any particular set of facts.

In <u>United States v. Mendenhall</u>, 446 U.S. 544, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64 L.Ed.2d 497 (1980), Justice Steward initially observed that, since the issuance of <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968), the Supreme Court had recognized the legitimate nature of police-citizen encounters in public areas. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 553. Justice Stewart

observed that the purpose of the Fourth Amendment was not to eliminate or restrict all police-citizen contact, but to provide for the formulation of standards that would prevent arbitrary interference with a citizen's privacy interests. Id. at 553, 554. Stewart concluded that all street encounters between police and citizens cannot be characterized as "seizures". Such an approach would be antagonistic to the purpose of the Fourth Amendment. Further, it would place unrealistic restrictions on law enforcement and police questioning of citizens as a method to properly enforce criminal laws. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 554. Thus, the criteria for evaluating and distinguishing between encounters and seizures, and for evaluating the voluntariness of a subsequent consent search, are to be applied to the facts of each case based on review of all circumstances. Id. at 554-555; 557, 560. The Court specifically emphasized the "compelling" public interest in detecting and policing drug smuggling and trafficking, noting that the ability to easily conceal drugs in public transit created law enforcement obstacles perhaps "unmatched in any other areas of law enforcement". Id. at 562. The Court further recognized the legitimacy of police investigations in advancing the very highly regarded public interest -- enforcement of drug laws.

In <u>Florida v.—Royer</u>, **460** U.S. **491**, **103** S.Ct. **1319**, **75** L.Ed.2d **229** (**1983**), the Supreme Court continued to apply these objective criteria to the facts of the particular case to distinguish an encounter from a seizure. <u>Id</u>. at **501**. In applying the Mendenhall approach, the four member plurality in

Royer, expressly rejected the contention that Fourth Amendment concerns were initiated or violated merely because police officers approached a citizen in a public place for questioning purposes. Id. The plurality concluded that, without more, self-identification by police and questioning of citizens in a public place, was not a per se seizure, and that detentions, short of full-scale "stops", were permissible exercises of police investigations directed to furthering the strong public interest in drug enforcement, as well as enforcement against other serious crimes. 460 U.S. at 497-499; 508. Thus, the Court in Royer continued to reject the application of a litmus test to cover all categories of police-citizen contact:

do not We suggest that there is a litmus paper test for distinguishing а consensual encounter from a seizure or for determining when seizure а exceeds the bounds of investigatory stop. Even in the discrete category of airport encounters, there will endless variations in facts and circumstances, so much variation that it is unlikely the courts can reduce to a sentence or paragraph a rule that will provide unarguable answers...

Id. at 506-507; 508.

.In INS v. Delqado, 466 U.S. 210, 104 S.Ct. 1758, 80 L.Ed.2d 247 (1984), a six-member majority continued to apply a case-by-case, fact-oriented approach in distinguishing between encounters and seizures. The Court again noted the "diversity" of police-citizen contact, and refused to categorize or define limits to be applied in every set of facts. In analyzing factual

circumstances involving a full-scale immigration survey by armed Federal agents with walkie-talkies in a factory environment, the Court's majority expressly concluded that police questioning of a citizen in a public area, (even one with limited access to the public), did not, in and of itself, translate automatically to a "seizure", 466 U.S. at 216; 217, n. 5. Delgado further stated that the fact of such questioning in such a setting does not per se impact on or invalidate the consensual or voluntary nature of a citizen's response. Id. at 216. In defining the general limits of an encounter, Delgado distinguished factual circumstances interpreted as encounters versus seizures, by particular intimidation factors present in a given case used as part of additional steps by police, to get responses from citizens who refused to answer or cooperate. Id. at 216-217. Thus, as the Fourth District in Avery correctly noted in its reliance on the Mendenhall/Royer/Delgado line of cases, courts can only classify an encounter as a "seizure", when there are objective factors of intimidation present in a particular case, beyond the fact of police questioning in a public place. Royer; Mendenhall; Delgado; Avery, 531 So.2d, at 184-187.

Petitioner's position was recently, and squarely rejected in Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S.___, 108 S.Ct. 1975, 100 L.Ed.2d 565 (1988). In this decision, the Court unanimously reversed the Federal appeals court's conclusion, that a police car driving beside a citizen, running along a public street, presents a per se "seizure" classification. 100 L.Ed.2d at 569, 570. The Court rejected defense and State arguments that such

circumstances were a per se seizure or encounter. <u>Id</u>. at 571. In so doing, the Court concluded that either approach "fails to heed this Court's clear directions" that an assessment of whether an encounter or seizure is involved, depends on a case-by-case analysis of the totality of circumstances present. This direct rejection of the same approach urged by petitioner, confirms the validity of the decision below.

Acceptance of petitioner's argument would require this Court to negate the clear and consistent adherence by the U.S. Supreme Court to a case-by-case "totality" approach and rejection of the development of per se rules. The standards developed, from Terry to Chesternut, provide for a balancing of the significant public interest in drug and law enforcement with the citizenry's interest, in each case. Chesternut; Delgado; Mendenhall; Royer; Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973). Respondent does not suggest that every bus search conducted by police will qualify under the facts as a legitimate "encounter". By the same token, not every bus search is a "seizure" or produces an invalid consent, absent some form of actual factors of intimidation or coercion beyond the mere fact of police interrogation in public places. Id.; Nazario v. State, 535 So.2d 295, 296 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Avery at 184; Alvarez v. State, 515 So.2d 286, 288 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Jacobsen v. State, 476 So. 2d 1282, 1285 (Fla. 1985); Denehy v. State, 400 So.2d 1216 (Fla. 1980). The Mendenhall and Schneckloth standards "filter out" those detentions that go beyond the permissible scope of an encounter or consent search,

without undermining the underlying validity and rationale of such investigative techniques during police-citizen contacts.

Mendenhall, at 553-554; Schneckloth, at 225, 229, 232. In light of this Court's directive, as well as state Constitutional requirements that the United States Supreme Court's construction of the Fourth Amendment must be followed, Art. I, Sec. 12, Fla.

Constitution (1985), the Fourth District's opinion must be affirmed.

It is widely recognized and well-settled that the fact that police officers question citizens in public places does not automatically implicate the Fourth Amendment. Mendenhall, at 553, 555; Terry, at 31-34 (Harlan, J. concurring opinion); Royer, at 497-500; Delgado, at 216, 220-221; Jacobsen, 476 So.2d at The fact that most people are likely to respond to such questioning by police officers, does not by itself invalidate or eliminate the consensual nature of a response. Delgado, at 216. Petitioner's argument actually implies that police officers, by virtue of their status, have an inferior right to address questions to citizens. This is not logically or legally acceptable. Mendenhall, at 553; Jacobsen, at 1285. Similarly, absent some specific indicia of forcefulness and intimidation, a detention cannot be considered per se coercive because of the alleged inherent nature of the physical surroundings. Delgado; Avery, 531 So.2d, at 186. This is not intended to suggest that such a factor may not be considered; however, such a factor cannot be deemed dispositive.

In <u>Delgado</u> the Supreme Court was confronted with the physical surroundings of a factory, with drug agents stationed at the exists, as well as questioning employees with their consent. However, the Court did not accept a constitutional distinction between the factory where the public usually does not have unlimited access, and a public place with full access. Id. at 217, n. 5. The Court observed that the agents were lawfully present pursuant to either consent or a warrant, and that there were other people present during the questioning (namely, the remainder of the employees). Id. at 217, n. 5. Due to these factors, the Court rejected any distinction between policecitizen encounters "in public places", and those in less-public areas. Consistent with the underlying purposes of the Fourth Amendment, <u>Delgado</u> focused on lawfulness of the officers' presence and conduct.

In examining the instant case, the nature of a public bus while stopped at a public bus terminal, the same analysis should apply. As far as "public access" is concerned, there are far less restrictions to access to a public bus stopped at a station than the <u>Delgado</u> employee factory scenario. Police officers, ticketed passengers and other members of the public, can board a bus while stopped in a station. Members of the public, with or without tickets can get on or off a bus, in such circumstances prior to its departure. Furthermore, it is significant that the bus was not stopped herein, pursuant to any police actions, such as sirens, lights, or other conduct. <u>United</u> States v. Adeqbite, 846 F.2d 834, 837-838 (2nd Cir. 1988); United

States v. Rembert, 694 F. Supp. 163, 173 (WDN Car 1988). circumstances are thus unlike those in Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 49 S.Ct. 1391, 59 L.Ed.2d 660 (1979), where a ve icle was stopped by affirmative police conduct. A bus passenger knows he is also subject to intrusions by other citizens and by a bus driver who takes money or tickets, thus further augmenting the degree of access by others. While petitioner had a seat on the bus by virtue of his ticket, he could not restrict access by lock, key or other reservation, to a particular seat. <u>United</u> States v. Whitehead, 849 F.2d 849, 855 (4th Cir. 1988) (no right/ability to restrict access to a sleeping compartment on a train). Petitioner does not require any superior rights "to be alone" because of the purchase of a ticket. Under the illogical extension of petitioner's argument, buying a ticket to a public event, such as a county fair, baseball game, or a sporting event at a public stadium would immunize an individual from legitimate police investigation. These factors contribute to further defining the character of a bus passenger, as similarly public in nature to a terminal or concourse "encounter" situation.

An individual's freedom of movement is not restricted by police officers boarding a bus stopped in a public terminal.

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